IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, Petitioner,

v.

SUPERIOR COURT OF RIVERSIDE COUNTY,

Respondent;

HOSSAIN SAHLOLBEI,

Real Party in Interest.

S232639

SUPREME COURT

JUN 10 2016

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

Court of Appeal Case No. E062380 Riverside County Superior Court No. INF1302523 The Honorable Michael Naughton, Judge

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

MICHAEL A. HESTRIN District Attorney County of Riverside ELAINA GAMBERA BENTLEY Assistant District Attorney KELLI M. CATLETT Supervising Deputy District Attorney EMILY R. HANKS Deputy District Attorney County of Riverside

INTRODUCTION

Real party in interest, Hossain Sahlolbei, was employed by a public hospital district as the Chief of Staff and a Director of the surgical department and acted as an advisor to its Board of Directors, providing recommendations on the hiring and compensation of doctors. In that capacity, he recruited a doctor to serve as the hospital's anesthesiologist and influenced the Board into hiring the doctor he chose for the

compensation he dictated. At the same time, real party had a secret side agreement with the anesthesiologist that allowed real party to be paid a large portion of the other doctor's wages. For his self-dealing, real party was charged with a violation of Government Code¹ section 1090. However, because real party's employment contracts with the hospital categorized his status as an "independent contractor" under tort law, the trial court, and later the Court of Appeal, concluded that real party could not be an employee of the hospital district subject to the criminal provisions of section 1090. Thus, real party was not held to answer on that charge. This decision was erroneous.

The Court of Appeal's reliance on the common law tort definition of employee is inconsistent with the legislative intent underlying section 1090. Section 1090 is the codification of the common law of conflict of interest, not tort, and was intended to apply broadly to ensure that those with influence over the contracting decisions of the public cannot be tempted to act in their own self-interest. By rigidly restricting section 1090 using an irrelevant distinction between employees and independent contractors, the Court of Appeal has created an end run around the statute's prohibition against self-dealing. An individual may now retain official-capacity influence over the contracting decisions of the public entity, but provided that person labels his or her employment as that of an independent contractor, the court must turn a blind eye to their self-dealing.

Such an interpretation is not required by the plain language of the statute or its legislative history. Rather, the legislative history of section 1090 demonstrates an intent to expand section 1090's reach beyond officers to those who serve the public temporarily in the capacity of a consultant or independent contractor. The Court of Appeal erred by finding that as a matter of law real party's employment status under tort law prohibited his prosecution for self-dealing. Instead, the court should have looked to real party's role at the public hospital district and, like multiple Courts of Appeal before it, held that an independent contractor who exercises considerable influence over the contracting

¹ All further statutory references are to the Government Code unless otherwise indicated.

decisions of the public entity is an employee for purposes of section 1090. Because real party is such an independent contractor, the People should not be prohibited from progressing to trial on the section 1090 charge.

ISSUE PRESENTED

If an individual performing work for and on behalf of a public entity qualifies as an "independent contractor" for purposes of the common law of tort liability, is that individual immune from the criminal provisions of Government Code section 1090?

STATEMENT OF FACTS²

Palo Verde Hospital ("PVH") is a small hospital in Blythe, run by the Palo Verde Hospital District. PVH receives public funds to operate and qualifies as a public entity under California law. (Exh. 3 at p. 128.) Real party worked at PVH as a surgeon. Like most of the doctors working at PVH, he was an independent contractor for purposes of tort law. (Exh. 3 at p. 167.) Real party also served as the Chief of Staff and Vice Chief of Staff of the hospital's Medical Executive Committee ("MEC"), a group of senior medical staff. (Exh. 3 at pp. 128, 137.) In that role, he advised the elected Board of Directors on hiring, firing, quality assurance, doctor privileges, doctor credentials, corrective actions against doctors, and other operations of the hospital district. (Exh. 3 at pp. 93-94, 134-136.) Real party was the most powerful and influential member of the MEC, described as the "power broker" on the committee. (Exh. 3 at pp. 137, 156, 283-284.)

Real party was also employed by PVH as the Co-Medical Director of Surgical Services and On-Call Surgical Services. (Exh. 3 at p. 157.) The contract for his directorship position states that the position is as an "independent contractor." (Exh. 3 at pp. 167-168, 275.) In both his directorship position and his role on the MEC, real

² The People cite the transcript of the preliminary hearing for the Statement of Facts.

party was a consultant to the Board of Directors of the public hospital. The Board was comprised of lay people with no medical expertise. They relied on the MEC and directors to make decisions about the hospital. (Exh. 3 at pp. 135-137, 267-268.)

In 2006, Dr. Mohammad Ahmad, an OB-GYN doctor, contacted PVH about a possible position. Real party contacted Dr. Ahmad directly and negotiated a one-year contract for Dr. Ahmad to work at PVH at \$18,000 a month. (Exh. 3 at p. 315.) Real party represented to Dr. Ahmad that he had the contract to provide OB-GYN services and was seeking a subcontractor. This was not true. (Exh. 3 at p. 268.) The hospital paid \$30,000 for Dr. Ahmad's OB-GYN services, but real party only paid Dr. Ahmad \$18,000, retaining the rest for himself. (Exh. 3 at p. 318.) The Board was unaware that real party was profiting in this manner. (Exh. 3 at p. 266.) In 2006, Dr. Ahmad discovered that real party was charging the hospital more than the amount Dr. Ahmad was paid and keeping the remainder for himself. Dr. Ahmad reported to the Board that real party was making money on his contract. (Exh. 3 at p. 316.) The Board helped negotiate an end to the contract and Dr. Ahmad then was paid directly by the hospital and real party did not receive any fees. Soon afterwards, real party brought in another OB-GYN and took all of Dr. Ahmad's clients away. (Exh. 3 at p. 319.)

In the summer of 2009, PVH was looking to change the manner in which the hospital provided anesthesia services. The hospital was using Certified Registered Nurse Anesthetists ("CRNA"), but was looking into the possibility of hiring an anesthesiologist. Real party proposed to the Board that he be awarded the contract and he would hire other doctors. Essentially he wanted to run the entire surgery department and operate like a hospital within a hospital. The Board and the Chief Executive Officer, Peter Klune, denied his request. (Exh. 3 at pp. 151-152, 225-226.)

Undaunted, in June 2009, real party contacted Dr. Brad Barth, an anesthesiologist who had previously worked at PVH years earlier. Dr. Barth was working in Missouri. Real party told Dr. Barth that he had the contract to provide

anesthesia services at PVH and was looking to hire a subcontractor at \$36,000 a month and a one-time \$10,000 relocation fee. (Exh. 3 at pp. 43, 46-48, 51-52, 54-55.) Dr. Barth agreed and signed a contract with real party. (Exh. 3 at pp. 50-51.) Real party did not have a contract with PVH to provide anesthesia services. (Exh. 3 at p. 130.) After securing a contract with Dr. Barth, real party influenced the Board to hire Dr. Barth as PVH's anesthesiologist for more money, intending to keep the excess for himself. (Exh. 3 at p. 145.) Real party appeared before the Board and recommended that Dr. Barth be hired at the recommended contract price. When there was resistance to the terms of the contract, real party threatened the Board that if they did not sign "there would be repercussions." (Exh. 3 at p. 148.) He threatened to have the medical staff stop admitting patients to the hospital, which would result in a massive loss of revenue for the already financially struggling hospital. (Exh. 3 at pp. 149-150.) Fearing real party's threat, the Board agreed to the terms of the contract recommended by real party. (Exh. 3 at p. 151.)

Real party never told any member of the Board that he would be receiving fees under the contract he was negotiating between PVH and Dr. Barth. The Board members indicated that they would never have agreed to such an arrangement. (Exh. 3 at p. 152.) The contract between real party and Dr. Barth contained a confidentiality provision and real party repeatedly threatened Dr. Barth that he would sue him if he disclosed the contents of the agreement. Dr. Barth was afraid to say anything to members of the hospital board about the agreement he signed with real party for fear of being sued. (Exh. 3 at pp. 58-61, 68.)

Dr. Barth moved back to Blythe in late September 2009 and began working at PVH. (Exh. 3 at p. 52.) After he arrived in Blythe, real party told Dr. Barth that the hospital had decided to structure the contract differently and wanted the contract in Dr. Barth's name. Real party said nothing about the arrangement was any different and it would not affect the contract Dr. Barth already had in place. (Exh. 3 at p. 61.) Dr.

Barth would have to deposit the checks he received from PVH into real party's bank account and real party would then pay the wage he previously promised to Dr. Barth. Dr. Barth signed a second contract with real party. Dr. Barth did not think he had any alternatives. (Exh. 3 at p. 62, 65-66.)

Real party then had Dr. Barth sign two contracts with PVH, one for anesthesia services and one for the Director of Anesthesia. The contracts said that Dr. Barth would be paid \$48,000 a month, a one-time \$40,000 relocation fee, and \$3,000 a month for the Directorship position. (Exh. 3 at p. 72-73.) Pursuant to the contract between real party and Dr. Barth, Dr. Barth would deposit this money in real party's bank account. Real party would then pay Dr. Barth \$36,000 a month and a one-time relocation fee of \$10,000. Real party kept the remaining money. (Exh. 3 at p. 73.)

As a Director, Dr. Barth was required to sign forms attesting that he performed certain duties. At first, he signed the documents and the \$3,000 a month payment came to him. He deposited the money in real party's bank account and none of it was returned to him. Eventually, Dr. Barth refused to sign the paperwork because he did not believe that he was performing the duties. Real party tried to talk Dr. Barth into signing the documents, but Dr. Barth refused because he felt it would be "bogus." (Exh. 3 at pp. 81-87.)

In September 2012, when Dr. Barth's contract expired, he was asked by Klune whether real party was profiting from his contract. Dr. Barth admitted that much of the money was going to real party. Klune was surprised and the hospital renegotiated a contract with Dr. Barth at a lower rate that did not include payments to real party. (Exh. 3 at p. 90.) Real party was angry with Dr. Barth and threatened to suspend his hospital privileges and sue him. (Exh. 3 at pp. 91-92.)

6

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On September 24, 2013, the Riverside County District Attorney's Office filed a felony complaint charging real party, as relevant here, with self-dealing regarding the contract for anesthesia services with Dr. Barth in October 2009 (count 1; Govt. Code, § 1090), and theft of money from Dr. Barth in October 2009 (count 2; Pen. Code, § 487).³ The complaint further alleged enhancements pursuant to Penal Code section 186.11, subdivision (a)(2), and Penal Code section 12022.6, subdivision (a)(2), as well as tolling of the statute of limitations pursuant to Penal Code section 803, subdivision (c). (Exh. 2.) The preliminary hearing was held on July 21, 2014 and July 22, 2014. At that time, the People agreed that real party's employment contract with the hospital district identified him as an independent contractor and that for purposes of tort law real party would be considered an independent contractor. Following the preliminary hearing, real party was held to answer on theft from Dr. Barth (count 2). The court did not hold real party to answer on the self-dealing count (count 1), finding that real party was not covered by the statute because he was not an officer or employee. Based on Division One of the Second Appellate District's opinion in People v. Christiansen (2013) 216 Cal.App.4th 1181 (Christiansen), the court concluded as a matter of law that because real party was considered an independent contractor under tort law, he cannot be an employee under section 1090. (Exh. 1 at p. 8.)

On August 4, 2014, the People filed an information with the same counts and allegations as the original complaint. (Exh. 4.) On September 2, 2014, real party filed a motion to set aside the information pursuant to Penal Code section 995. The trial court granted real party's motion as to count 1 again based entirely on the *Christiansen* decision. (Exh. 8 at p. 544.)

³ Real party was originally charged with self-dealing and theft related to the contract for obstetrics and gynecology services with Dr. Ahmad in January 2006, but those counts were dismissed as untimely. The People did not seek review of that decision.

On November 24, 2014, the People filed a Petition for Writ of Prohibition and/or Mandate in the Fourth Appellate District, Division Two, challenging the trial court's dismissal of count 1. The People asked the Court of Appeal to disagree with *Christiansen* and follow the decisions of Division Three of the Fourth Appellate District in *California Housing Finance Agency v. Hanover/California Management & Accounting Center, Inc.* (2007) 148 Cal.App.4th 682 (*Hanover*), and of Division Four of the Second Appellate District in *Hub City Solid Waste Services, Inc. v. City of Compton* (2010) 186 Cal.App.4th 1114 (*Hub City*), which held that tort law distinctions are irrelevant for purposes of liability under section 1090. The People asked that the Court of Appeal hold, as in *Hanover* and *Hub City*, that an independent contractor "whose official capacity carries the potential to exert 'considerable' influence over the contracting decisions of a public agency is an 'employee' under section 1090, regardless of whether he or she would be considered an independent contractor under common law tort principles." (*Hanover, supra,* at p. 693.)

The Court of Appeal invited a response from real party and thereafter the court issued an order to show cause directing the parties to file a formal return and traverse. On January 20, 2016, the Court of Appeal issued a non-unanimous opinion denying the People's petition. Agreeing entirely with the *Christiansen* decision, the majority court held that section 1090's use of the term employee is limited to the definition of employment found in the common law of tort. (Slip opn. at pp. 5-7.) The court concluded that because real party's status at the hospital was that of an independent contractor for purposes of tort law, as a matter of law he cannot be subject to the criminal provisions of section 1090. (Slip opn. at pp. 9-14.) The court also held there was insufficient evidence to conclude that real party was acting in an official capacity when he recruited doctors for the hospital, negotiated their salaries, and influenced the hospital board to hire them. (Slip opn. at pp. 14-15.)

Justice Hollenhorst filed a dissenting opinion in which he found *Christiansen* was wrongly decided and the common law tort distinctions relied upon by the majority are irrelevant. (Slip dissenting opn. at pp. 1-6.) The dissenting opinion found that an independent contractor may be an employee for purposes of section 1090 "at least where that person contracts with a public entity to perform services that carry 'the potential to exert "considerable" influence over the contracting decisions of the public entity." (Slip dissenting opn. at p. 6.) The dissenting justice found that real party participated in the making of Dr. Barth's contract in his official capacity and can be criminally prosecuted for a violation of section 1090. (Slip dissenting opn. at p. 8.)

ARGUMENT

Ι

THE APPELLATE COURT ERRED IN FINDING AS A MATTER OF LAW THAT REAL PARTY IS IMMUNE FROM THE CRIMINAL PROVISIONS OF GOVERNMENT CODE SECTION 1090 BECAUSE HE QUALIFIES AS AN INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR UNDER COMMON LAW TORT

The Court of Appeal concluded that because real party's employment status with PVH qualifies as an independent contractor under the common law of tort, real party was permitted to negotiate contracts on behalf of the public hospital district in which he secretly awarded himself hundreds of thousands of dollars. Not so. Real party cannot hide behind the independent contractor label. The Legislature did not intend to restrict section 1090 to common law tort definitions. Rather, the legislative history of section 1090 demonstrates an intent to broadly interpret its provisions in order to ensure uncompromised allegiance to the public. Real party performed public functions on behalf of PVH and exercised considerable influence over the hospital district's contracting decisions, namely the hiring and compensation of doctors. In his role as a consultant to the PVH Board, real party was an employee of the public hospital district who participated in the making of contracts in an official capacity. His self-dealing falls under section 1090.

A. General Principals Regarding Section 1090

Section 1090 provides, "Members of the Legislature, state, county, district, judicial district, and city officers or employees shall not be financially interested in any contract made by them in their official capacity, or by any body or board of which they are members. Nor shall state, county, district, judicial district, and city officers or employees be purchasers at any sale or vendors at any purchase made by them in their official capacity." A violation of section 1090 requires that the defendant government official or employee participate in the making of a contract in his or her official capacity while having a cognizable financial interest in that contract. (*Lexin v. Superior Court* (2010) 47 Cal.4th 1050, 1074 (*Lexin*)). The Legislature has limited the scope of section 1090 through two additional statutes—section 1091 (remote interests) and section 1091.5 (minimal interests). These two statutes carve out types of interests and relationships that do not violate section 1090. (*Id.* at p. 1073.) A criminal violation of section 1090 further requires a showing that the violation was knowing and willful. (§ 1097.)

This statutory framework does not define the terms used therein. In particular, there is no statutory definition of the term "employee." Instead, that term has been subject to judicial interpretation throughout the years. The meaning of the term "employee" in section 1090 and the significance of independent contractor status under tort law to that meaning is a question of statutory interpretation subject to this Court's independent review. (*Davis v. Fresno Unified School Dist.* (2015) 237 Cal.App.4th 261, 275-276 (*Davis*); *People v. Lofchie* (2014) 229 Cal.App.4th 240, 250 (*Lofchie*).)

B. The Legislature Intended that Section 1090 Be Broadly Interpreted to Achieve its Prophylactic Purposes

As this Court has indicated time and again, "in construing a statute, a court [must] ascertain the intent of the Legislature so as to effectuate the purpose of the law." (*People v. Coronado* (1995) 12 Cal.4th 145, 151; *People v. Jenkins* (1995) 10 Cal.4th 234, 246.)

In determining the intent of the Legislature, the Court must examine the words of the statute itself and apply its plain meaning. (*People v. Coronado, supra*, at p. 151.) But the plaining meaning rule "does not prohibit a court from determining whether the literal meaning of a statute comports with its purpose." (*Lungren v. Deukmejian* (1988) 45 Cal.3d 727, 735.) "Literal construction should not prevail if it is contrary to the legislative intent apparent in the statute. The intent prevails over the letter, and the letter will, if possible, be so read as to conform to the spirit of the act." (*Ibid.*, citing *People v. Belton* (1979) 23 Cal.3d 516, 526; *Amador Valley Joint Union High Sch. Dist. v. State Bd. of Equalization* (1978) 22 Cal.3d 208, 245.) Accordingly, the Court "must select the construction that comports most closely with the apparent intent of the Legislature, with a view to promoting rather than defeating the general purpose of the statute, and avoid an interpretation that would lead to absurd consequences." (*People v. Coronado, supra*, at p. 151.)

With regard to section 1090, there is no defined meaning of the term employee. Thus, this Court must look to the Legislative purpose behind section 1090 to determine that meaning. That Legislative history supports a liberal construction that includes individuals who perform public functions and exercise considerable influence over the contracting decisions of a public entity, regardless of their status under the common law of tort.

1. Conflict of interest statutes are strictly enforced and liberally construed

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