IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, Petitioner,

V.

SUPERIOR COURT OF RIVERSIDE COUNTY,
Respondent,

HOSSAIN SAHLOLBEI

Real Party in Interest.

S232639

SUPREME COURT
FILED

AUG 1 5 2016

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

Fourth Appellate District, Division Two, NO. E062380 Riverside County Superior Court No. INF1302523 The Honorable Michael J. Naughton Department 3N



ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

BROWN WHITE & OSBORN LLP KENNETH P. WHITE Bar No. 173993 kwhite@brownwhitelaw.com 333 South Hope Street, 40th Floor Los Angeles, California 90071-1406 Tel: (213) 613-0500

Fax: (213) 613-0550

Attorney for Real Party in Interest Hossain Sahlolbei

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

ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

In reviewing a ruling under Penal Code section 995 to set aside an information, this Court disregards the ruling of the trial court and directly reviews the evidence presented at the preliminary hearing. (*Lexin v. Superior Court* (2010) 47 Cal.4th 1050, 1072 [applying standard to review of order denying Section 995 order in Section 1090 prosecution.].) On matters of statutory interpretation, this Court's review is *de novo*. (*Ibid.*) With respect to the sufficiency of evidence, the Court draws "all reasonable inferences in favor of the information" and decides whether there is probable cause to support the charge – that is, enough evidence that a reasonable person could harbor a strong suspicion of the defendant's guilt. (*Ibid.*)

B. Provisions of Section 1090 And Christiansen

Section 1090 provides in pertinent part as follows:

Members of the Legislature, state, county, district, judicial district, and city officers or employees shall not be financially interested in any contract made by them in their official capacity, or by any body or board of which they are members. Nor shall state, county, district,

judicial district, and city officers or employees be purchasers at any sale or vendors at any purchase made by them in their official capacity. (Gov. Code, § 1090.)

The issue before this Court is whether "employees" means "employees," or whether (as the People urge) it means employees and some subset of independent contractors deemed to have sufficient influence to be treated as employees. As a preliminary matter, the Legislature's use of the plain language "employees" should end the inquiry. This Court begins any statutory analysis with the plan language, and ends the inquiry there when the language is clear and not ambiguous. (*Lexin*, *supra*, 47 Cal.4th at 1079 [discussing interpreting exceptions to Section 1090].) The People do not offer argument or authority establishing that the term "employees" is ambiguous.

Several California courts have recently held that the term "employees" in Section 1090 does not, at least for the purposes of criminal charges, include independent contractors like Dr. Sahlolbei. In *Christiansen*, the Second Appellate District held that "at least for purposes of criminal prosecution under section 1090, an independent contractor is not an employee within the meaning of the statute." (Christiansen, supra, (2013) 216 Cal.App.4th at 1190 [reversing Section 1090 conviction of independent contractor of school district].) Another division of the Second District later followed *Christiansen*, holding that just as Section 1090's use of the term "employee" cannot be read to encompass independent contractors, neither can Section 1090 be expanded beyond its plain language to extend to University of California employees. (*People v. Lofchie* (2014) 229 Cal.App.4th 240, 252-53, review den. (Nov. 19, 2014).) In *Davis v. Fresno Unified School District* (2015) 237 Cal.App.4th 261, 300, rev. den. (Aug. 26, 2015), a panel of the Fifth District agreed with the Christiansen court that a strict definition of statutory terms "is appropriate in the context of a criminal prosecution" but declined to

apply it to a civil dispute.⁵ This Court denied review of *Christiansen*, *Lofchie*, and *Davis*.

Citing earlier civil cases like *Hub City v. City of* Compton (2010) 186 Cal.App.4th 1114, the People assert that *Christiansen*, *Lofchie*, and *Davis* were incorrectly decided and that the term "employees" in Section 1090 should be read even in criminal cases to include independent contractors who exert some ambiguously defined degree of influence over public entities. The People are patently wrong, and this Court should adopt the *Christiansen* court's interpretation of Section 1090.

C. The Legislature Has Acquiesced In The *Christiansen* Court's Interpretation of Section 1090

Even if the People disagree with the Christiansen court, the California Legislature plainly does not. In fact, the Legislature has acquiesced in the *Christiansen* court's interpretation of Section 1090, further demonstrating that this Court should affirm and adopt *Christiansen*'s rule.

In 2014, the year after *Christiansen*, the Legislature amended Section 1090 to add explicit aider and abettor liability. (*See* Cal. Gov. Code § 1090, Stats.2014, c. 483 (S.B.952), § 1, eff. Jan. 1, 2015; 2014 Cal. Legis. Serv. Ch. 483 (S.B. 952) (West).) The Legislature acted to address an unpublished decision holding that Section 1090 *didn't* support aider and abettor liability. The Senate Finance Committee's fiscal summary noted that the bill followed an *unsuccessful* attempt to amend Section 1090 to reverse *Christiansen*:

The Fourth District Court of Appeals followed this holding in an unpublished decision in *People v. Baine* (2012) Cal.App. Unpub. LEXIS 8038: "We share our colleagues' view that the Legislature

⁵ Even though *Davis* expressly endorsed *Christiansen*'s holding in the criminal context, the People cite it as supporting their argument. (POB at 20-21.)

intended Government Code section 1090 to exclude criminal liability on either a conspiracy or an aiding and abetting theory for anyone other than public officials and public employees with a financial interest in the underlying contract." Proposed Law: This bill would specifically prohibit an individual from aiding or abetting a public official or person from violating the law prohibiting financial conflicts of interest under GC 1090 and 1093, and would extend the penalty provisions under GC 1097 to aiders and abettors. Prior Legislation:

AB 1059 (Wieckowski) 2013 would have extended the application of existing financial interest prohibitions on public officers and employees to independent contractors who perform a public function, and specifically provide when an independent contractor, or an owner, officer, employee, or agent of the independent contractor, has a financial interest in a contract. This bill was not heard by a committee. (California Bill Analysis, S.B. 952 Sen., 4/28/2014.)

By amending and reenacting Section 1090 without addressing *Christiansen*, the Legislature acquiesced in its result under this Court's clear precedent.

It is a well-established principle of statutory construction that when the Legislature amends a statute without altering portions of the provision that have previously been judicially construed, the Legislature is presumed to have been aware of and to have acquiesced in the previous judicial construction. (*Marina Point, Ltd. v. Wolfson* (1982) 30 Cal.3d 721, 734.)

In *Marina Point*, like here, the Legislature was aware of the statutory interpretation in question, and amended and reenacted the statute in question without altering the language at issue. This Court identified that as a "legislative endorsement" of the interpretation:

Had the Legislature disagreed with the *Cox* interpretation, or had it desired to constrict the reach of section 51 in a manner incompatible with *Cox*, it presumably would have altered the preexisting language of the statute so to indicate. (See, e.g., *Estate of McDill* (1975) 14 Cal.3d 831, 840 [122 Cal.Rptr. 754, 537 P.2d 874].) Instead, the Legislature reenacted the previously construed language verbatim, simply adding an explicit reference to sex discrimination to highlight the statute's application in that area. Under the numerous authorities cited above, this action represents a legislative endorsement of *Cox*'s interpretation of section 51. (*Marina Point*, 30 Cal.3d at 735.)

The Legislature's endorsement here is just as clear.

The Legislature also considered, but failed to pass, a bill that would have reversed *Christiansen* by adding explicit criminal liability for independent contractors. (2013 California Assembly Bill No. 1059, California 2013-2014 Regular Session, Legislative Counsel's Digest ["This bill would extend the application of those prohibitions to independent contractors who perform a public function, and specifically provide when an independent contractor, or an owner, officer, employee, or agent of the independent contractor, has a financial interest in a contract. By expanding the scope of a crime, the bill would impose a statemandated local program."].) This Court has held that failure to pass such amendments offers "limited, if any, guidance" in interpreting the statute. (People v. Mendoza (2000) 23 Cal.4th 896, 921.) However, the proposed amendment establishes conclusively that the Legislature was aware of the ruling in Christiansen. Its subsequent limited amendment of Section 1090 - and failure to add explicit criminal liability for independent contractors – is therefore acquiescence in *Christiansen*'s holding. (*Marina Point*, 30 Cal.3d at 735.) That should end the inquiry.

D. When The Legislature Extends Conflict of Interest Rules To Independent Contractors, It Does So Explicitly

The language of other statutes supports the holding in *Christiansen*. The People urge a broad construction of the term "employees" in Section 1090 to encompass independent contractors, notwithstanding the common law rule that independent contractors are not employees. But in considering how to interpret a statutory term, this Court looks to whether the Legislature is generally explicit when it intends to achieve the result urged. Put another way, this Court asks "does the Legislature know how to do this expressly when it wants to do it?" (See, e.g., Riverside County Sheriff's Dept. v. Stiglitz (2014) 60 Cal.4th 624, 653 ["when the Legislature intends to extend new powers to nonjudicial officers, it knows how to do so expressly"]; Kavanaugh v. West Sonoma County Union High School Dist. (2003) 29 Cal.4th 911, 920 ["when the Legislature intends to attach legal significance to the time an employee was hired, it has explicitly said that as well."]; People v. Tanner (1979) 24 Cal.3d 514, 524 ["Legislature is quite capable of expressing itself clearly when it intends" a broad interpretation]; City of Montebello v. Vasquez et al. (August 8, 2016, S219052) - Cal.4th --, at p. 10 ["The Legislature clearly knows how to create an exemption from the anti-SLAPP statute when it wishes to do so," quoting City of Los Angeles v. Animal Defense League (2006) 135 Cal.App.4th 606, 620].)

Here, the Legislature knows how to make a conflict of interest statute apply to independent contractors of public entities when it wishes to do so. The Political Reform Act of 1974 has a provision parallel to Section 1090: "No public official at any level of state or local government shall make, participate in making or in any way attempt to use his official position to influence a governmental decision in which he knows or has reason to know he has a financial interest." (Gov. Code, § 87100.) In defining "public official" for purposes of that statute, the Legislature

explicitly included "employee" and "consultant" separately: "'Public official' means every member, officer, employee or consultant of a state or local government agency." (Gov. Code, § 82048 [emphasis added]; Davis v. Fresno Unified School District (2015) 237 Cal.App.4th 261, 296 [discussing definition of "consultant"].) In other words, when the Legislature wanted to extend a conflict of interest statute to independent contractors, not only did it do so explicitly, it did so in a way that explicitly distinguished them from employees. Especially combined with the Legislature's acquiescence with Christiansen, this demonstrates that the Legislature did not mean the term "employees" to include "independent contractors" in Section 1090.

E. The *Christiansen* Court's Interpretation of Section 1090 Is Correct Under This Court's Precedent

In holding that the term "employees" in Section 1090 does not include independent contractors, both the *Christiansen* court and the Fourth Appellate District below relied upon this Court's well-established rule that when a statute uses the term "employee," courts must use the common-law definition unless the Legislature "clearly and equivocally" calls for a different meaning. (*Christiansen*, 216 Cal.App.4th at 1188-89; *Sahlolbei*, Slip Op. at 6-7.) Both courts cited this Court's holding in *Reynolds v. Bement* (2005) 36 Cal.4th 1075 to that effect:

A statute will be construed in light of the common law unless the Legislature "clearly and unequivocally" indicates otherwise. (California Assn. of Health Facilities v. Department of Health Services (1997) 16 Cal.4th 284, 297, 65 Cal.Rptr.2d 872, 940 P.2d 323.) We agree with the individual defendants that, had the Legislature intended to depart from the common law by engrafting Wage Order No. 9 onto section 1194, it would have more clearly manifested that intent. Neither section 510 nor section 1194 contains

any reference to the IWC employer definition: section 510 in detailing certain obligations of "an employer" leaves that term undefined; section 1194, without mentioning "employer," simply provides that "any employee" receiving less than the applicable legal minimum wage or legal overtime compensation is entitled to recover the same in a civil action. "In this circumstance—a statute referring to employees without defining the term—courts have generally applied the common law test of employment." (*Metropolitan Water Dist. v. Superior Court* (2004) 32 Cal.4th 491, 500, 9 Cal.Rptr.3d 857, 84 P.3d 966 [discussing Gov.Code, § 20028, subd. (b)].) "California courts have applied this interpretive rule to various statutes dealing with public and private employment." (*Metropolitan Water Dist., supra*, at p. 500, 9 Cal.Rptr.3d 857, 84 P.3d 966; see also *id.* at p. 500, fn. 5, 9 Cal.Rptr.3d 857, 84 P.3d 966, *citing cases.*) (*Reynolds*, 36 Cal.4th at 1086-87.)

The People – and the dissenting judge in the opinion below -- assert that this Court "abrogated" *Reynolds* on this point and abandoned the common-law test. (POB at 22.) They are incorrect. In *Martinez v. Combs* (2010) 49 Cal.4th 35, this Court only abrogated the *result* of *Reynolds*, not its reasoning. In *Martinez* this Court found that the expanded record supported "clearly and unequivocally" that the Legislature intended to depart from the common-law definition of employment relationships in California Labor Code § 1194, the statute at issue in both cases. In doing so, this Court expressly restated and endorsed the *Reynolds* standard, merely noting that the supplemented record before it *satisfied* that standard:

[In *Reynolds*] we applied the maxim of interpretation that "[a] statute will be construed in light of the common law unless the Legislature ' " 'clearly and unequivocally' " 'indicates otherwise." (*Ibid.*, quoting

California Assn. of Health Facilities v. Department of Health Services (1997) 16 Cal.4th 284, 297, 65 Cal.Rptr.2d 872, 940 P.2d 323.) Elaborating on the latter point, we explained that when " 'a statute refer[s] to employees without defining the term ... courts have generally applied the common law test of employment.' "(Reynolds, at p. 1087, 32 Cal.Rptr.3d 483, 116 P.3d 1162, quoting Metropolitan Water Dist. v. Superior Court, supra, 32 Cal.4th 491, 500, 9 Cal.Rptr.3d 857, 84 P.3d 966.) In a footnote, we added that the "plaintiff ... ha[d] not persuaded us that one may infer from the history and purposes of section 1194 a clear legislative intent to depart, in the application of that statute, from the common law understanding of who qualifies as an employer." (Reynolds, at p. 1087, fn. 8, 32 Cal.Rptr.3d 483, 116 P.3d 1162.) As we have now shown, an examination of section 1194 in its full historical and statutory context shows unmistakably that the Legislature intended to defer to the IWC's definition of the employment relationship in actions under the statute. (Martinez, 49 Cal.4th at 63-64.)

The People's faulty argument that *Martinez* "abrogated" *Reynolds* also ignores the fact that this Court established the "clear and unequivocal" rule *before Reynolds*. (See, e.g., California Assn. of Health Facilities v. Department of Health Services (1997) 16 Cal.4th 284, 297 [applying rule to interpretation of reasonable licensee defense]; *Metropolitan Water Dist. of Southern California v. Superior Court* (2004) 32 Cal.4th 491, 500 ["In this circumstance—a statute referring to employees without defining the term—courts have generally applied the common law test of employment."].) The People cannot distinguish those cases and do not attempt to do so.

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